1960

# State of Utah v. James LeRoy Hopkins : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 22, 1960, police officer Archie Bukosky subscribed and swore to a criminal complaint against appellant, a negro. Appellant was charged with having committed the crime of burglary in the second degree in violation of Title 76, Chapter 9, Section 3, and with being an habitual criminal under Title 76, Chapter 1, Section 18, Utah Code Annotated, 1953

(R.4). A warrant for the arrest of appellant

was issued the same day by Judge Maurice D. Jones of the City Court of Salt Lake City, Utah (R.3).

Following preliminary hearing on May 23, 1960, appellant was ordered bound over to the District Court for trial on both charges of the complaint (R.2). Trial was had on July 7, 1960 (R.9). In the information executed by Jay E. Banks, District Attorney for the Third Judicial District, Salt Lake County, Utah, appellant was accused of the crime of burglary in the second degree in that on the 18th day of April, 1960, in the County of Salt Lake, State of Utah, appellant entered the apartment of Della McBreathy in the night-time with intent to commit larceny therein, and of being an habitual criminal (R.5). The allegation of habitual criminality was

**subsequently stricken from the information**

(R. 10-11). The evidence adduced by respondent at trial was to the effect that on the morning of April 18, 1960, a Mrs. Dorothy Garnett occupied apartment number three at 803 Park Street, Salt Lake City, Utah (R. 34, 36); that her apartment was directly beneath that of Mrs. Della McBreaty (R. 62-63); that there were three other units in the apartment house, one north of and on the ground floor with that of Mrs. Garnett, one north of and on the second floor with that of Mrs. McBreaty, and one in the basement with its entrance on the south side of the building (R. 35-37); that all five apartments were occupied that morning (R. 63-64); that there was a front entrance on the west side of the building leading into a hall which lead to the apartments of Mrs. Garnett and Mrs. McBreaty (R. 37);

that there was a rear entrance on the east side of the building to the apartments of Mrs. Garnett and Mrs. McBreathy (R.3); that prior to sun up on the morning of April 18, 1960, Mrs. Garnett was either awakened (R.50) or had been awake all night (R. 60-61) and heard noises in the front hall and at the rear of the building (R.39); that she looked out the living room window facing west and saw a white man standing there (R.39); that she then looked out the dining room window facing south and saw a colored man on the balcony on the building to the south (R.40); that she then saw the colored man drop a ladder from the balcony and a minute later she saw the ladder placed on the roof of the entrance to the basement apartment, directly beneath a window in Mrs. McBreathy's apartment (R.41);

that she then saw someone ascend the ladder (R.42) but saw only the person's legs (R.58) or feet (R.62) and further saw nothing distinguishing about his feet (R.61); that she then called the police (R.58); that during all this while a one hundred watt bulb was burning in Mrs. McBreaty's living room (R. 67-68) with the living room drapes open (R.68); that nothing was stolen (R.73); that Mrs. McBreaty had not known that anyone was in her apartment until the police so informed her (R. 71-72); that Mrs. McBreaty was awakened by the arrival of the police (71-72); that Mrs. McBreaty's husband was in Tooele County that night (R.63); that Mrs. McBreaty's six daughters, all less than eight years of age, were asleep in one of the bedrooms of her apartment (R. 63, 72); that the front and back doors to Mrs. McBreaty's apartment



were locked during the night (R. 64-65) but that the rear door was open when she awoke (R.66); that Mrs. McBreaty had given no one permission to be in her apartment (R.71); that the first police officer to arrive saw a colored man standing in front of the dining room window of Mrs. McBreaty's apartment (R. 76); that the police found a pair of shoes belonging to appellant (R.77); that an hour or so later, the police apprehended appellant walking east on Ninth South Street between Fifth and Sixth East (R. 82); that appellant told them he was going to visit a friend named Maggie (R.83); that appellant admitted to the ownership of an Oldsmobile automobile parked on Park Street (R.87); that appellant was later interrogated at the Public Safety Building in Salt Lake City (R.100) at which time he first denied and then

admitted ownership of the shoes that had been found (R.97); that he was later interrogated at the city jail (R.103) and that appellant then told the interrogating officer that he had been driving south on West Temple Street about three o'clock A.M. and was hailed by a white man for a ride home; that appellant offered to give the white stranger a ride in exchange for \$2.00 worth of gasoline; that the stranger bought the gasoline and appellant drove the stranger to his Park Street destination; that the stranger tried to get in Mrs. McBreaty's apartment but discovered the doors locked; and that the stranger then requested appellant's aid with the ladder (R.98). There was other evidence adduced, hereinafter to be mentioned.

At the close of respondent's evidence,

appellant moved the court for an order dis-

Sponsored by the S.J. Quinney Law Library. Funding for digitization provided by the Institute of Museum and Library Services

Library Services and Technology Act, administered by the Utah State Library.

Machine-generated OCR, may contain errors.

missing the action on the grounds of  
insufficiency of the evidence (R.109).  
This motion was denied (R.109).

Appellant did not testify in his  
own behalf. The case was submitted to the  
jury, which returned a verdict of guilty  
(R.119). From judgment on the verdict,  
this appeal is prosecuted.

### STATEMENT OF POINTS

The sole issue raised herein is:

The evidence adduced by respondent was  
insufficient at law to sustain a conviction.

### ARGUMENT

THE EVIDENCE ADDUCED BY RESPONDENT WAS  
INSUFFICIENT AT LAW TO SUSTAIN A CONVICTION.

Appellant was tried and convicted of  
burglary in the second degree under an  
information which stated that on the 18th  
day of April, 1960, in the County of Salt

Lake, State of Utah, appellant entered the apartment of Della McBreaty in the nighttime with intent to commit larceny therein (R.5). The elements of the offense as stated in the information were in accordance with Utah Code Ann. § 76-9-3 (1953).

It is axiomatic that "intent, being a state of mind, is rarely susceptible of direct proof, but ordinarily must be inferred from the acts and conduct of the party and the facts and circumstances attending them which reasonably indicate them to the minds of others." 9 Am. Jur. Burglary § 61. In other words, intent must ordinarily be proved by circumstantial evidence. With respect to circumstantial evidence in criminal prosecutions, the general rule is as follows:

"Where circumstantial evidence is relied upon in a criminal prosecution, proof of a few facts or a multitude of facts all consistent with the supposition of guilt is not sufficient to warrant a verdict of guilty. In order to convict a person upon circumstantial evidence, it is necessary not only that the circumstances all concur to show that the prisoner committed the crime and be consistent with the hypothesis of guilt, since that is to be compared with all the facts proved, but that they be inconsistent with any other rational conclusion and exclude every other reasonable theory or hypothesis except that of guilt . . . A reasonable doubt must be resolved in favor of the accused where a fact or circumstance is susceptible of two interpretations. If the circumstances tending to show the guilt of the accused are as consistent with his innocence as with his guilt, they are insufficient. In order to convict a person of a crime, the facts must be inconsistent with, or such as to exclude, every reasonable hypothesis or theory of innocence. . . . The weight of circumstantial evidence is a question for the jury to determine; such evidence alone or in connection with other evidence may justify a conviction. Great care, however, must be exercised in drawing inferences from circumstances proved in criminal cases, and mere suspicions will not warrant a conviction." (20 Am. Jur. Evidence § 1217)

This has long been the law in Utah. In State v. Wells, 35 Utah 400, 100 Pac. 681, 684 (1909), this court stated:

"But, as in all cases of circumstantial evidence, not only must circumstances be established which agree with and support the hypothesis which they are adduced to prove, and concur to show the defendant's guilt, but they must also be inconsistent with any other reasonable conclusion. It is not enough that circumstances be proven from which an inference may be deduced that the production of the miscarriage was not necessary to preserve the life of the woman, but they must also be inconsistent with every other reasonable conclusion. 'The conclusion is not supported by circumstantial evidence, unless the facts relied on are of such a nature, and so related to each other, that no other conclusion can fairly or reasonably be drawn from them, and this requirement is strictly enforced, where decisive direct evidence is probably attainable, but is not produced.' 17 Cyc.817."

Thus, restating the law with respect to this case, the evidence adduced by res-

pendent with respect to defendant's intent to commit larceny is insufficient if the evidence is consistent with any other reasonable conclusion. Furthermore, no jury question arises "if the evidence is such that reasonable men would not differ upon the fact that it includes" a reasonable hypothesis of innocence. State v. Burch, 100 Utah 414, 115 P.2d 911, 912 (1941). In such a case "it is not a question for the jury, but is one for the court." State v. Burch, supra.

Defendant submits that the evidence adduced in this case is consistent with a reasonable hypothesis of innocence, and that therefore the court below erred in submitting the case to the jury and in not granting defendant's motion to dismiss.

Several facts which are inconsistent with the hypothesis of guilt make this hypothesis immediately suspect. Why would a burglar attempt to burglarize a second story apartment with a one hundred watt bulb burning brightly therein? There was no showing at the trial that Mrs. McBreathy's apartment contained anything of especial value, and, indeed, the showing was to the contrary (R. 68-69); or that entrance to the ground floor or basement apartments was not equally as accessible or even more accessible than it was to Mrs. McBreathy's apartment. Why would a burglar attempt to burglarize an apartment on a lighted street (R.40,46)? Why would a burglar attempt to gain access to a well lighted second story apartment first through the conventional front



and rear entrances? This approach is fraught with the danger of discovery because of a creaky staircase, a squeaky door or a vigil insomniac. There was no evidence to show that defendant knew or thought Mrs. McBreaty's apartment was empty. To the contrary, the evidence showed that Mrs. McBreaty and her six young daughters were home. If burglary had been the object of appellant's visit, why was there no showing that the man in the front hall had attempted to open Mrs. Garnett's front door, whereby escape would have been much easier had the would-be burglar been detected? Why was there no showing of the results of the fingerprint tests run on Mrs. McBreaty's purse which was lying right in front of the living room window (R.69) and would naturally

be the first thing a burglar would grab? These facts all tend to indicate that larceny was not the purpose of appellant's visit.

On the other hand, the undisputed facts in this case are that there was a white man present with appellant on the morning of April 18, 1960, at 803 Park Street in Salt Lake City, Utah, and that appellant drove this man to said address pursuant to his request and having been informed that it was the stranger's home, and that the stranger asserted his right to make entry (R.98). Such undisputed facts certainly do not prove and in fact tend strongly to disprove the existence of the requisite criminal intent. In the absence of proof of mens rea, appellant is innocent

as a matter of law. Such undisputed facts are in every way consistent with a reasonable hypothesis of innocence.

Appellant submits that he is the victim of circumstances, or, more accurately, of circumstantial evidence which on careful examination reveals quite clearly that he did not enter Mrs. McBreaty's apartment on the morning of April 18, 1960, and in the nighttime with intent to steal.

### CONCLUSION

The evidence adduced in this case is consistent with a reasonable hypothesis of innocence. Therefore, the court below erred in submitting the case to the jury

and in not granting defendant's motion  
to dismiss.