1960

State of Utah v. James LeRoy Hopkins : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On April 18, 1960, defendant was convicted of burglary in the second degree in the Third Judicial District Court. He was sentenced to an indeterminate term in the State Penitentiary.

Respondent accepts the statement of facts as submitted in appellant's brief. There are also presented hereinafter in this brief the basic facts as proved at trial.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO CONVICT THE DEFENDANT OF THE CRIME OF BURGLARY IN THE SECOND DEGREE.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE EVIDENCE WAS SUFFICIENT TO CONVICT THE DEFENDANT OF THE CRIME OF BURGLARY IN THE SECOND DEGREE.

Section 76-9-3, U.C.A. 1953, defines the offense of second degree burglary:

“Every person who, in the nighttime, forcibly breaks and enters, or without force enters an open door, window or other aperture of, any house, room, apartment, tenement, shop, warehouse, store, mill, barn, stable, outhouse or other building, or any tent, vessel, water craft, railroad car, automobile, automobile trailer, aeroplane or aircraft with intent to commit larceny or any felony, is guilty of burglary in the second degree. * * *”

The offense of second degree burglary includes the element of intent and appellant's appeal is directed solely to that element, viz., whether there was sufficient evidence to prove that appellant committed the acts alleged with “* * * intent to commit larceny or any felony. * * *.”

We have no substantial disagreement with appellant on matters of law. In a criminal conviction, each element

of an offense, including that of intent, must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Clark* (Utah), 223 P. 2d 184. The issue here concerns itself with the proof of intent. It is a general rule that intent, being a state of mind, is rarely susceptible of direct proof and must, therefore, be proved by circumstantial evidence. 9 Am. Jur. 271, Burglary, Sec. 61 and 12 C.J.S. 731, Burglary, Sec. 55. In *State v. Woodruff* (1929), 225 N.W. 254, an Iowa case, the defendant was apprehended inside a dwelling house at night. It did not appear that he had taken any property. He made no explanation as to the reason for his presence in the house. On an appeal by the State from a directed verdict for the defendant, the Appellate Court reversed. The Court said:

“The general rule is that the in the absence of explanation, the jury may infer from the fact of his breaking and entering that his intent was to commit larceny. In ascertaining the intent, the jury may take into consideration all the other facts and circumstances disclosed by the evidence, and bearing upon that question.

See also *State v. Maxwell*, 42 Iowa 211.

In *Alexander v. State* (Texas), 20 S.W. 756, it was said:

“Although there was no direct evidence of the intent, it might be inferred from the surrounding circumstances. The weight to be given these was a question properly left to the jury; and when a person enters a building through a window at a late hour of the night, after the lights are extinguished, and no explanation is given of his intent, it might well be inferred that his purpose was to commit

larceny, such being the usual intent under such circumstances.”

See also *Vickery v. State* (1911 Texas), 137 S.W. 687.

In a very recent Idaho case, the court commented on the proof of intent in a burglary prosecution. *Ex Parte Seyfried* (1953 Idaho), 264 P. 2d 685. A conviction for burglary was taken to the Idaho Supreme Court on a writ of habeas corpus. The defendant had been apprehended at night in the dwelling house of another by police officers. He had taken no property when apprehended. He made no explanation of his presence in the house. The court held that the magistrate was justified in committing the defendant for trial and the order quashing the writ and remanding the defendant was affirmed. The court said:

“Where a dwelling house is broken and entered in the nighttime and no lawful motive or purpose is shown or appears, or any satisfactory or reasonable explanation given for such breaking and entering, the presumption arises that the breaking and entering were accomplished with the intent to commit larceny. The fact that the officers were present and apprehended the burglar before he had an opportunity to carry his purpose into execution is of no importance. The crime of burglary was consummated when the unlawful entry was made with intent to steal or commit some felony therein. Sec. 18-1401, I. C.

“The common experiences of mankind raise a strong presumption and inference that such a breaking and entering as is here shown was made with the purpose of committing larceny, no other purpose appearing. It is sufficient to show the essential unlawful intent when the entry was made

by circumstantial evidence. Direct evidence of such intent is not required. One's intent may be proved by his acts and conduct, and such is the usual and customary mode of proving intent. * * *"

In an old Utah case, *People v. Morton*, 1886, 11 Pac. 512, this court held that where the facts are such that it is impossible to account for the presence of the defendant in the place where he was arrested, unless on the hypothesis that he was there to commit larceny, a conviction of burglary is justified.

The Morton and Seyfried cases were upheld by the Utah Supreme Court in the 1958 case of *State v. Telay*, 324 P. 2d 490, where the contention and appeal was based on the same principle, as in this case, namely the insufficiency of the evidence to convict appellant of burglary because it was not directly proved that he had the intent. The Court held:

"The answer to that is that the jury did not so find."

A basic principle of appellate review provides that an appellate court will not review questions of fact for it is the function of the jury. The court may, however, make a determination of the sufficiency of the evidence, and if the verdict is supported by substantial evidence, the reviewing court will not disturb it. 3 Am. Jur., Appeal and Error, Sec. 883, 5A C.J.S., Appeal and Error, Sec. 1647. This court held that where there is evidence to support the jury's verdict, it will not be overturned by a reviewing court. See *Henrie v. Rocky Mountain Pack-*

ing Corporation (Utah), 202 P. 2d 727; *Angerman v. Edgemon* (Utah), 290 Pac. 169; *State v. Johnson* (Ida.), 287 P. 2d 425.

With the foregoing rules in mind, we proceed to consider appellant's contention, which is that since the evidence is largely circumstantial, does that circumstantial evidence prove intent?

There was sufficient proof of defendant's intent as required by the statute. There was no direct proof of intent, as is the usual case in burglary prosecutions, but the basic circumstantial evidence as proved raises the presumption of intent. That presumption was not rebutted at the trial. The following facts were proved:

- (1) That the door to Mrs. McBreathy's apartment was locked when she retired (R. 64).
- (2) That the door was found wide open the morning of April 18, 1960 (R. 66).
- (3) That Mrs. Garnett saw a colored person climb up the ladder to Mrs. McBreathy's dining room window (R. 42).
- (4) That Officer Firth, at approximately 4:28 A.M., saw a colored person standing in front of Mrs. McBreathy's dining room window (R. 74 and 76).
- (5) That the appellant's shoes were found at the scene of the burglary (R. 77, 97).
- (6) That the appellant's car was located one-half block from the apartment (R. 87).

- (7) That the appellant was found leaving the area without his car and going in a direction opposite to his car (R. 82).
- (8) That appellant's explanation for being in the area was so illogical that counsel did not even attempt to put on any evidence to prove it.

Considering the evidence adduced, there is no other reasonable hypothesis which the jury could have found; no logical explanation was made why defendant was in the apartment at an early hour.

Appellant, on pages 14-15 of his brief, suggests several statements and questions why the accused would not have attempted to burglarize the apartment in question. In answer to these, respondent must ask the appellant, what makes a person attempt to burglarize any apartment? The State submits that a burglar is not a logical person, nor is burglarizing based on logic. The questions and statements of appellant are not reasonable, nor were they suggested by the evidence at the trial.

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that the judgment of the trial court should be affirmed.

WALTER L. BUDGE
Attorney General

HOMER F. WILKINSON
Assistant Attorney General

Attorneys for Respondent